# RECEIVED

01-08-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP002016-CR

# STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARCUS DEMOND ANDERSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying a Postconviction Motion, Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak and the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER D. SOBIC Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1064382

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 sobicc@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

At the beginning of his sentencing hearing, Mr. Anderson complained that his lawyer failed to communicate with him and was "ineffective." The court did not address Mr. Anderson's complaints and, instead, moved forward with the sentencing hearing. In a postconviction motion, Mr. Anderson alleged that his substantial complaints about his lawyer were an implicit request for a new attorney and the court abused its discretion when it did not address them. He asked the court to hold a retrospective hearing at which he could explain the reasons he wanted a new lawyer and allow the court to exercise its discretion and decide if substitution of counsel was appropriate. The court denied Mr. Anderson a hearing.

Did the circuit court err in denying Mr. Anderson a retrospective hearing at which he could present the reasons he wanted a new attorney appointed to his case for his sentencing hearing?

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel does not request oral argument. Publication is not likely warranted because this case applies well-established law to the facts of the case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Mr. Anderson with two counts of delivery of heroin, contrary to Wis. Stat. §961.41(1)(d)1. (1:2). As probable cause for the underlying offenses, the complaint alleged that on April 24, 2015 and April 30, 2015, Mr. Anderson sold heroin to an undercover police officer. (1:2-4).

On November 30, 2015, Mr. Anderson pleaded guilty to both counts. (11:1). As part of a plea agreement, the State agreed to make a global recommendation of 5 years initial confinement and 5 years extended supervision. (44:2).

At the outset of his sentencing hearing on February 6, 2016, Mr. Anderson complained about his lawyer's performance:

*The State*: ... The State's recommendation is five years initial confinement, five years extended supervision. Defense is free to argue. We'd still be asking for restitution.

*The Court*: Okay. Counsel, is that your understanding of the negotiations?

*Defense Counsel*: That's what – Mr. Sitzberger sent a text on the day of the sentencing, or the – I'm sorry – the day of the plea.

*The Court*: All right. Sir, is that your understanding of what the negotiations were in this case?

*Mr. Anderson*: No. Not on this matter. Man, I want to say my lawyer ain't come and see me, man, and I want – He ain't been coming to talk to me at all. I want to be honest. I pled out to something I really don't know anything about, man. I want to call it – I want to call it ineffective counsel, man.

*The Court*: All right. All right. The State's argument as to sentencing?

(45:4-5; App. 104-105).

Thereafter, the court heard statements from the State, defense counsel, and Mr. Anderson without further addressing Mr. Anderson's complaints about his attorney. (45:5-14; App. 105). The court, the Honorable Timothy Witkowiak presiding, sentenced Mr. Anderson to 3 years initial confinement and 3 years extended supervision on Count 1 and a concurrent 3.5 years initial confinement and 3.5 years extended supervision on Count 2. (11:1).

Mr. Anderson filed a postconviction motion in which he alleged that his substantial complaints about his lawyer at the beginning of his sentencing hearing were an implicit request for a new lawyer. (34:3-6; App. 108-111). He argued that the court failed to exercise its discretion and make a meaningful inquiry into Mr. Anderson's complaints about his attorney so that it could determine whether a new lawyer should be appointed to his case. (34:4-6; App. 109-111). Based on the court's failure to exercise its discretion, Mr. Anderson requested a hearing at which he could explain the reasons he wanted a new lawyer for sentencing. (34:6; App. 111).

In a written decision, the court, the Honorable Janet Protasiewicz presiding, denied Mr. Anderson's request for a hearing. (35:1-4; App. 112-115). It determined that Mr. Anderson had not presented a substantial complaint about his lawyer at his sentencing hearing that could be interpreted as a request for a new lawyer. (35:3-4; App. 114-115). The court stated, "These complaints cannot reasonably be interpreted as an implicit request for another attorney; these are merely the complaints of a defendant who was only accusing his attorney of failing to communicate with him." (35:3; App. 114).

Mr. Anderson now appeals the court's denial of his postconviction motion.

#### ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred in denying Mr. Anderson's request for a hearing at which he could explain the reasons he wanted a new attorney appointed to his case for his sentencing hearing.

A. Legal principles.

Whether trial counsel should be relieved and a new attorney appointed in his place is a matter within the trial court's discretion. *State v. Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d 356, 359, 432 N.W.2d 89 (1988). "A discretionary determination must be the product of a rational mental process by which the facts of record and law relied upon are stated and are considered together for the purpose of achieving a reasoned and reasonable determination." *Id.* (internal quotes and citation omitted).

"In situations involving appointment of new counsel, a circuit court's exercise of discretion is triggered by a defendant's presentation of a substantial complaint that could be interpreted as a request for new counsel." *State v. McDowell*, 2004 WI 70, ¶66, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500. "When a substantial complaint is made, the trial judge should inquire whether there are proper reasons for substitution" of counsel. *Id.* "A defendant's right to representation must be protected and, even absent an explicit request for new counsel, courts should inquire into what they may reasonably infer is a

problem potentially undermining that right." Id. at  $\P{71}$ .

Accordingly, when a defendant has made substantial complaints about his lawyer that the court should reasonably interpret as a request for a new lawyer, the court "is required to inquire into the defendant's complaints." See Lomax, 146 Wis. 2d 356 at 361. A court should take the time to allow the defendant to explain all of his complaints about his lawyer so that it can properly exercise its discretion in deciding whether or not to grant the request for a new attorney. Id. at 362. When a defendant requests a new lawyer, the "trial court must...make sufficient inquiry to ensure that a defendant is not cemented to a lawyer with whom full and fair communication is impossible; mere conclusions unless adequately explained will not fly." State v. Jones, 2007 WI App 248, ¶13, 306 Wis. 2d 340, 742 N.W.2d 341. If the court fails to make sufficient inquiry into a defendant's request for a new lawyer before denying that request, it abuses its discretion. See Lomax, 146 Wis. 2d 356 at 361-362.

When a court fails to properly exercise its discretion in determining whether a new attorney should be appointed in a case, a defendant is entitled to a retrospective evidentiary hearing at which he can present to the court the reasons he wanted a new lawyer. *Id.* at 365; *Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340 at ¶19. At that hearing, the court is required to determine if new counsel should have been appointed in the defendant's case. *Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340 at ¶19. If the

court determines that new counsel should have been appointed, the defendant's case is returned to the point in the case when the request for new counsel was made. *See id*.

> B. The trial court abused its discretion when it failed to address Mr. Anderson's implicit request for a new lawyer.

Here, at the beginning of his sentencing hearing, Mr. Anderson complained about his attorney's performance:

> Man, I want to say my lawyer ain't come and see me, man, and I want – He ain't been coming to talk to me at all. I want to be honest. I pled out to something I really don't know anything about, man. I want to call it – I want to call it ineffective counsel, man.

(45:4-5; App. 104-105).

In its denial of Mr. Anderson's postconviction motion, the circuit court found that Mr. Anderson had not made a substantial complaint that could be reasonably interpreted as a request for a new attorney. (35:3-4; App. 114-115). However, Mr. Anderson's complaint regarding the lack of communication with his attorney and that his attorney was "ineffective counsel" could only be interpreted as a request for new counsel.

Mr. Anderson stated that his lawyer had not come to speak with him. (45:4; App. 104). Communication is the essence of the attorney-client relationship. And a defendant should not be cemented to a lawyer with whom full and fair communication is impossible. Jones, 306 Wis. 2d 340 at ¶13. If Mr. Anderson's lawyer was not coming to speak with him, he would not have been able to communicate with his lawyer about his case. Prior to sentencing, Mr. Anderson and his lawyer would have potentially needed to meet and communicate about the defense's sentencing recommendation, Mr. Anderson's right to allocution, and important information Mr. Anderson wanted his lawyer to convey to the court. Thus, when Mr. Anderson told the court that his lawyer was not communicating with him, the court should have interpreted that as an implicit request for a new lawyer and inquired further into Mr. Anderson's complaints about his lawyer.

Moreover, Mr. Anderson told the court that he thought his lawyer was "ineffective." (45:5, App. 105). Certainly, it is reasonable to conclude that a defendant would not want to continue with his case with a lawyer he felt was ineffective. Again, the court should have interpreted this statement as a request for a new lawyer and questioned Mr. Anderson further about his complaints concerning his lawyer.

Instead of inquiring into Mr. Anderson's complaints about his attorney, the court simply moved on with the sentencing hearing after Mr. Anderson made his substantial complaint about his lawyer and stated, "All right. All right. The State's argument as to sentencing." (45:105; App. 105). The court did not actually address Mr. Anderson and ask him about his complaints regarding his lawyer or why he wanted a new lawyer. As part of its exercise of discretion, the court was required to make a meaningful inquiry into Mr. Anderson's complaints about his attorney so that it could determine whether new counsel should be appointed to the case. Additionally, as part of its exercise of discretion, the court was required to explain the reasons it was not appointing a new lawyer to Mr. Anderson's case, which it also failed to do here. *See Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d 356 at 359-360, 362.

In Lomax, on the morning of trial, Mr. Lomax told the court that he felt like he was not being properly represented and he wanted a new lawyer. *Id.* at 358. The court summarily dismissed Mr. Lomax's request for a new lawyer because the request was made on the day of trial and the court believed his attorney was zealously representing him. *Id.* The Wisconsin Supreme Court determined that the court's inquiry into the defendant's reasons for requesting a new attorney was inadequate and, therefore, it could not determine if the trial court's decision to deny Mr. Lomax's request for a new attorney was a proper exercise of the court's discretion. *Id.* at 359-362.

Like the trial court in *Lomax*, the court in this case failed to exercise its discretion when it did not ask Mr. Anderson to explain the problems he was having with his attorney or why he wanted a new attorney. In fact, the court in this case did less than the trial court in *Lomax*. Here, the court did not place any explanation on the record why it was denying Mr. Anderson's implicit request for a new lawyer and simply moved forward with the sentencing hearing.

Because the court did not properly exercise its discretion in determining whether a new attorney should be appointed to Mr. Anderson's case, he is entitled to a hearing at which he can present to the court the reasons he wanted a new lawyer. *Id.* at 365; *Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340 at ¶19. If, at that hearing, the trial court finds that Mr. Anderson was entitled to a new lawyer, the court should hold a new sentencing hearing. *See Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340 at ¶19.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should reverse the denial of Mr. Anderson's postconviction motion, and remand the case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing at which the court must exercise its discretion and determine whether Mr. Anderson was entitled to a new lawyer. If the circuit court determines he was entitled to a new lawyer for his sentencing hearing, the circuit court should hold a new sentencing hearing in this case with new counsel.