RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 04-12-2019

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP2016-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARCUS DEMOND ANDERSON, SR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVCITION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WITKOWIAK AND THE HONORABLE JANET PROTASIEWICZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the circuit court erroneously exercise its discretion when it denied Defendant-Appellant Marcus Demond Anderson, Sr. a retrospective hearing on the question of whether he requested a new attorney at sentencing?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer no.

INTRODUCTION

At his sentencing for delivery of heroin, Anderson complained that his attorney did not communicate with him and said, "I want to call it -- I want to call it ineffective counsel, man." (R. 45:4–5.) The circuit court did not inquire further into what Anderson meant by the statement at that point. The court instead proceeded to sentencing, where Anderson did not complain further.

The postconviction court concluded that Anderson never requested a new attorney or made a substantial complaint about his attorney. The postconviction court properly denied Anderson's request for a retrospective hearing to address whether he sought a new attorney at sentencing. This Court should affirm.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request either oral argument or publication. This case may be resolved by applying wellestablished legal principles to the facts.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 24, 2015, and April 30, 2015, Anderson sold heroin to an undercover police officer. (R. 1:3.) The State

charged Anderson with two counts of delivery of a controlled substance. (R. 1:2.)

On November 30, 2015, Anderson entered a guilty plea to both counts. (R. 44:5–6.) At that hearing, Anderson told the court that he had a chance to talk to his attorney about what the State would have to prove for Anderson to be found guilty at trial. (R. 44:5.) He told the court that he understood the charges, the maximum penalties, and the elements of the crime. (R. 44:3–5.) Anderson understood the plea questionnaire and the rights that he gave up by entering his plea. (R. 44:6–9.) Anderson believed that his plea was free and voluntary. (R. 44:7.) He told the court that he was satisfied with his attorney's representation. (R. 44:7.)

On February 16, 2016, the court sentenced Anderson. (R. 45:1.) At the outset of the hearing, Anderson's attorney sought a delay, but the court proceeded to sentencing. (R. 45:2–3.) The State articulated the plea agreement, and the court asked Anderson if the State's understanding was also Anderson's understanding. (R. 45:4.) Anderson replied that,

No. Not on this matter. Man, I want to say my lawyer ain't come and see me, man, and I want to -- He ain't been coming to talk to me at ail. I want to be honest. I pled out to something I really don't know anything about, man. I want to call it -- I want to call it ineffective counsel, man.

(R. 45:4–5.) The court did not address Anderson's comment and proceeded directly to the State's sentencing argument. (R. 45:5.) When given a chance to speak at sentencing, Anderson did not complain about his attorney and accepted responsibility for his actions. (R. 45:13–14.)

The court sentenced Anderson to three years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision on each count and ran the sentences concurrent to each other and to any other sentence. (R. 45:17.)

Anderson filed a postconviction motion seeking a hearing to present reasons why he wanted a new attorney appointed at sentencing. (R. 34:1.) The circuit court denied that motion. (R. 35:4.)

The circuit court held that Anderson did not present a substantial complaint at sentencing that could reasonably be interpreted as a request for new counsel. (R. 35:3.) It held that Anderson did not explicitly request an attorney. (R. 35:3.) Anderson did not make statements that were tantamount to a request. (R. 35:3.) Finally, the court concluded that Anderson did not "manifest a desire to fire his attorney" or demonstrate an unwillingness to cooperate. (R. 35:3.)

The court decided that Anderson needed to do something more substantial to trigger the circuit court to apply the factors in *State v. Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d 356, 432 N.W.2d 89 (1988). (R. 35:4.) The court noted that Anderson's conclusory ineffective assistance of counsel claims could be raised in postconviction proceedings, but not at the outset of a sentencing hearing. (R. 35:4.) For those reasons, the court denied Anderson's motion. (R. 35:4.)

Anderson appealed. (R. 36.)

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly denied Anderson's request for a retrospective hearing because he never made a substantial complaint or requested a new attorney.

A. Standard of review

Whether to allow a change of attorney lies within the circuit court's discretion. *Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d at 359. This Court will not disturb the court's judgment absent an erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Jones*, 2010 WI 72, ¶ 23, 326 Wis. 2d 380, 797 N.W.2d 378.

B. Legal principles

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 7 of the Wisconsin Constitution guarantee an indigent defendant the right to appointed counsel. But an indigent defendant does not have the right to choose his appointed counsel. *State v. Darby*, 2009 WI App 50, ¶ 28, 317 Wis. 2d 478, 766 N.W.2d 770.

"In situations involving appointment of new counsel, a circuit court's exercise of discretion is triggered by a defendant's presentation of a substantial complaint that could be interpreted as a request for new counsel." *State v. McDowell*, 2004 WI 70, ¶ 66, 272 Wis. 2d 488, 681 N.W.2d 500. The defendant's complaint need not include an explicit request for a new lawyer. *Id.* ¶¶ 67–68. It must be a request that could "reasonably be interpreted as a request for new counsel." *State v. Kazee*, 146 Wis. 2d 366, 371, 432 N.W.2d 83 (1988).

When considering whether a circuit court erred in denying a motion for substitution of counsel, reviewing courts must consider factors including: (1) the adequacy of the court's inquiry into the defendant's complaint; (2) the timeliness of the motion; and (3) whether the alleged conflict was so great it likely resulted in a total lack of communication preventing an adequate defense. *Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d at 359. Courts also consider whether a defendant previously changed lawyers. *State v. Jones*, 2007 WI App 248, ¶ 13, 306 Wis. 2d 340, 742 N.W.2d 341.

A defendant must show good cause to warrant the substitution of an appointed attorney. *Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d at 360. A mere disagreement is not enough. *State v. Wanta*, 224 Wis. 2d 679, 703, 592 N.W.2d 645 (Ct. App. 1999). To warrant substitution of appointed counsel, a defendant must show good cause, such as conflict of interest, a complete breakdown

in communication, or an irreconcilable conflict that leads to an apparently unjust verdict. *Id*.

C. The circuit court properly denied Anderson's request for a retrospective hearing because Anderson never asked for a new attorney.

Anderson did not make a request that could "reasonably be interpreted as a request for new counsel." *Kazee*, 146 Wis. 2d at 371. Since Anderson failed to request a new attorney or raise a substantial complaint about his attorney, the circuit court did not need to inquire into Anderson's complaint. The circuit court properly denied Anderson's request for a retrospective hearing. This Court should affirm.

First, Anderson never raised a substantial complaint that could be interpreted as a request for a new attorney. He only complained about a lack of communication and called his attorney "ineffective." (R. 45:4–5.) The circuit court heard that complaint within the context of the entire proceedings, which did not otherwise suggest that Anderson wanted a new attorney.

Second, Anderson's sentencing statement directly contradicted what Anderson told the court less than three months earlier. At the plea hearing on November 30, 2015, Anderson explained that he had enough time to talk to his attorney about the consequences of entering a plea. (R. 44:5.) He told the court that he was satisfied with his attorney's representation. (R. 44:7.) Not only did he refrain from complaining about representation, he affirmed more than once that his attorney was communicating with him and he was satisfied with his attorney.

On February 16, 2016, at the sentencing hearing, Anderson raised his complaint, but when given the chance to speak later in the hearing, he accepted responsibility for his actions and did not complain about representation or communication. (R. 45:13–14.)

Third, because Anderson did not make a request that could reasonably be interpreted as a request for new counsel, the circuit court had no obligation to ask further questions about the statement or apply the *Lomax* factors to determine whether Anderson was entitled to a new attorney.

The *Lomax* criteria only become relevant when a defendant moves for substitution of his attorney. *See Lomax*, 146 Wis. 2d at 359. In *Lomax*, the defendant said that he had not been "properly represented" and "at this time I am asking for appointment of another counsel." *Id.* at 358. Because Anderson did not make such a request, *Lomax* does not apply.

Like *Lomax*, in *Jones* the defendant explicitly requested a new attorney. *Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340, ¶ 7 (alteration in original) (in a letter to the court, the defendant wrote: "I do not want [the lawyer] to represent me anymore and I would like for him to be dismiss from my case."). Anderson implies that his reference to failure to communicate with his attorney implicated *Jones*, and he argues that he is entitled to a lawyer with whom he or she can communicate. (Anderson's Br. 7–8.) But *Jones* is factually distinguishable based on the fact that Jones explicitly asked for a new attorney in writing. *Jones*, 306 Wis. 2d 340, ¶ 7.

This case is also unlike *Kazee*, where the defendant interrupted his attorney and said, "I don't want him." 146 Wis. 2d at 369. The supreme court determined that the defendant's statement could be interpreted as a request for a new attorney. *Id.* at 371. There, the defendant did not explicitly request a new attorney but made a statement that indicated that was his desire. Here, Anderson's statement did not indicate any desire for a new attorney.

Finally, Anderson's reliance on *McDowell* is misplaced. (*See* Anderson's Br. 5.) In that case, the defendant did not

explicitly tell the court that he wanted a new attorney, but instead the defendant's attorney told the court that the defendant wanted a new attorney. McDowell, 272 Wis. 2d 488, ¶ 67. The court held that even though the defendant did not make an explicit request, the circuit court knew that the defendant wanted a new attorney based on the statements by counsel. Id. ¶¶ 68–70. The court then proceeded to examine the Lomax factors. Id. ¶ 72.

Unlike *Lomax*, *Jones*, *Kazee*, and *McDowell*, the circuit court here did not hear an explicit request for a new attorney or a substantial complaint about Anderson's attorney from either Anderson or the attorney. Anderson's vague complaint about communication did not put the circuit court on notice that Anderson wanted another attorney. His use of the word "ineffective" implies a desire to seek postconviction relief but does not imply that he wanted a new attorney at the sentencing hearing.

For all these reasons, the court had no need to address the *Lomax* factors. Anderson did not seek to change attorneys. That is fundamentally different from making a motion to obtain a new attorney. The circuit court properly denied Anderson's postconviction motion.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm Anderson's judgment of conviction and the circuit court's order denying postconviction relief.